A. INTRODUCTION 

Under this Court's separation of powers jurisprudence, when a 

procedural statute conflicts with a procedural rule, such as a rule of 

evidence, and the two cannot be harmonized, the statute must yield to 

judicial rules on the admissibility of evidence. The collateral source rule 

is a rule of evidence prohibiting a party from introducing evidence that a 

party has been compensated by an independent source. For over a hundred 

years, Washington courts have judicially applied the collateral source rule. 

RCW 7.70.080 abrogates the collateral source rule in medical malpractice 

cases brought under RCW 7.70. It specifically permits the admission of 

evidence that a plaintiff has already been compensated from collateral 

sources. The statute cannot be harmonized with the collateral source rule, 

and is unconstitutional as a violation of separation of powers. 

The Court of Appeals, however, held that this Court's separation of 

powers jurisprudence applies only to conflicts between statutes and formal 

rules. The lower court's ruling is unprecedented. This Court has never held 

that separation of powers analysis is limited to formally promulgated court 

rules. Nor has the Court ever considered the constitutionality of RCW 

7.70.080 with respect to the collateral source rule of evidence. Petitioner 

Lonnita Haskins seeks review of these significant constitutional issues. 

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 1 
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B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Lonnita Haskins, plaintiff in the trial court, asks this Court 

to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review 

designated in Part C of this petition. 

C. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Petitioner Lonnita Haskins seeks reversal of that portion of the Court 

of Appeals' decision of December 16, 2014 holding that RCW 7.70.080 is 

constitutional, and that the trial court in the medical malpractice case below 

did not err in admitting evidence of collateral source payments. (Appendix 

A). On March 3, 2015, the Court of Appeals granted a timely filed motion to 

publish the portion of the decision respecting RCW 7.70.080, and denied a 

timely filed motion for reconsideration. Appendix B. 

D. ISSUES PRESENT FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether RCW 7.70.080, abrogating the collateral source rule 

of evidence in medical malpractice cases, is unconstitutional in violation of 

the state's constitutional doctrine of separation of powers. 

2. Whether for purposes of separation of powers analysis, this 

Court's inherent judicial authority over rules of evidence is limited to 

formally promulgated rules, or whether it applies also to common law rules 

of evidence adopted by this Court. 
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E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Proceedings in Trial Court 

Lonnita Haskins was severely injured in March 11, 2009 while 

hospitalized at Tacoma General Hospital, when stents inserted to drain her 

urine following a urinary diversion procedure were pulled 14 inches out of 

her body. The urine could not be drained, and instead backed up into her 

kidneys, causing serious injury to her renal system. 

Lonnita Haskins brought this medical malpractice action against 

Defendant MultiCare Health Systems under RCW 7.70, on September 15, 

2010, in Pierce County. CP 3-7. The case went to trial before the 

Honorable John Hickman, Superior Court for Pierce County, on January 

14,2013. CP 430. 

Plaintiff moved in limine to exclude all evidence of collateral 

source payments on the ground that RCW 7.70.080 is unconstitutional in 

violation of separation of powers, because of the irreconcilable conflict 

between the statute and the collateral source rule. CP 570-72 (Motion); 

CP 584-593 (Opposition); CP 602-604 (Reply). The trial court denied the 

motion and permitted the defendant hospital, pursuant to the statute, to 

introduce evidence of collateral source payments, specifically that Medicare 

and Medicaid had paid a portion of her medical bills. RP (1/15/12) at 1-15 
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(Argument on Motion in Limine); RP (1/24/13) at 87-89 (Ruling); RP 

(1/28/13) at 104-05 (evidence). 

In addition, the trial court refused to give plaintiffs proposed 

instruction on res ipsa loquitur taken from WPI 22.01. CP 133; RP (1129113) 

187, 197, 200. The jury returned a verdict for the defense, fmding that 

plaintiff had not proved the defendant was negligent. CP 428-29. 

2. Proceedings in Court of Appeals 

On December 16, 2014, the Court of Appeals reversed and 

remanded for a new trial, holding that the trial court should have given 

plaintiffs requested instruction on res ipsa loquitur. Opinion at 1, 6-13. 1 

The Court of Appeals also ruled that RCW 7.70.080 was 

constitutional, and that the trial court did not err in admitting evidence of 

collateral source payments. The Court held that separation of powers 

"applied only to defeat statutes that conflict with formal court rules." 

Opinion at 15-16. The collateral source rule is a common law rule. 

"Without a formal court rule, there is not conflict between that rule and a 

statute and, thus, no violation ofthe separation of powers." Opinion at 15. 

1Page references are to the original unpublished opinion of December 16, 2014. The 
Order to Publish in Part rearranges the sections of the Courts' opinion, so that the 
pagination in the final version will differ from the original version. As of this date, the 
Westlaw version of the opinion has not been modified to reflect the Court of Appeals 
Order that the case be published in part. 
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On December 23, 2014, a group of attorneys regularly representing 

medical malpractice defendants filed "Defendants' Joint Motion for 

Publication in Part" asking the Court of Appeals to publish that portion of 

the opinion addressing the constitutionality of RCW 7.70.080? The joint 

motion pointed out that the "admissibility of collateral source evidence is 

frequently an issue in medical malpractice cases." Joint Motion to Publish 

at 4. It cited trial court decisions holding that the statute was 

unconstitutional, contrary to the ruling of the Court of Appeals. !d. at 3-4. 

The Joint Motion recognized that "there is no published decision 

demonstrating the constitutionality of collateral source evidence in 

medical malpractice cases." !d. at 5. 

The Court of Appeals on March 3, 2015, granted the motion to 

publish in part its decision on the constitutionality of RCW 7.70.080. In 

the same order, the Court of Appeals denied MultiCare's motion for 

reconsideration of the ruling on res ipsa loquitur. The portion of the 

opinion addressing res ipsa loquitur remains unpublished. This petition 

timely follows. 

2Counsel representing defendant MultiCare Health Systems signed the motion, 
but in her capacity as defense counsel in another case. 
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F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

Review of the Court of Appeals' Decision Regarding the 
Constitutionality of RCW 7. 70.080 should be Accepted under 
RAP 13.4(b)(3) and RAP 13.4(b)(4), 

This case presents the Court with a significant constitutional 

question of first impression, whether RCW 7.70.080 is unconstitutional as 

a violation of separation of powers because it is in irreconcilable conflict 

with the collateral source rule of evidence. As an integral part of this 

question, the case also raises another constitutional issue of first 

impression, whether separation of powers principles are only implicated 

by formally promulgated rules of evidence, or whether application of these 

principles apply equally to long held and well-established common law 

rules of evidence. 

1. The Court of Auueals Erred in Failing to Rule that 
RCW 7.70.080 Conflicts with the Common Law 
Collateral Source Rule of Evidence and is 
Unconstitutional in Violation of Separation of Powers 

"Under the collateral source rule, no party can introduce evidence 

that a plaintiff was compensated by some independent source such as 

worker's compensation, an insurance payout, or welfare benefits." Diaz v. 

State, 175 Wn.2d 457,465,285 P.3d 873 (2012). Washington courts have 

judicially applied the collateral source rule for at least 100 years. See 

Heath v. Seattle Taxicabs Co., 73 Wash. 177, 185-87, 131 Pac. 843 (1913) 
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(pension fund benefits); Stone v. Seattle, 64 Wn.2d 166, 172,391 P.2d 179 

(1974) (Social Security or veterans' pensions); Ciminski v. SCI 

Corporation, 90 Wn.2d 802, 804-07, 585 P.2d 1182 (1978) (Medicare 

benefits); Johnson v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 134 Wn.2d 795, 802-805, 953 

P.2d 800 (1998) (collateral source barred in workers' compensation 

proceedings). 

The judicial policy in support of the rule is especially strong in that 

it is a "rule of strict exclusion," barring collateral source evidence even if 

the evidence would be admissible for other purposes. Boeke v. 

International Paint Co., 27 Wn. App. 611, 618, 620 P.3d 103 (1980) 

(receipt of workers compensation benefits inadmissible to show lack of 

motivation to return to work); Cox v. Spangler, 141 Wn.2d 431, 440, 5 

P.3d 1265 (2000) ("even when it is otherwise relevant, proof of such 

collateral payments is usually excluded, lest it be improperly used by the 

jury to reduce the Plaintiffs damage award."). The rule applies even if 

the plaintiff has not purchased the benefit. Ciminski, 90 Wn.2d at 805. 

RCW 7.70.080 supersedes the common law collateral source rule 

in medical malpractice cases brought under RCW 7.70. Diaz v. State, 175 

Wn.2d 457, 285 P.3d 873 (2012). RCW 7.70.080 states in full: 

Any party may present evidence to the trier of fact that the 
plaintiff has already been compensated for the injury 
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complained of from any source except the assets of the 
plaintiff, the plaintiffs representative, or the plaintiffs 
immediate family. In the event such evidence is admitted, 
the plaintiff may present evidence of an obligation to repay 
such compensation and evidence of any amount paid by the 
plaintiff, or his or her representative or immediate family, 
to secure the right to the compensation. Compensation as 
used in this section shall mean payment of money or other 
property to or on behalf of the plaintiff, rendering of 
services to the plaintiff free of charge to the plaintiff, or 
indemnification of expenses incurred by or on behalf of the 
plaintiff. Notwithstanding this section, evidence of 
compensation by a defendant health care provider may be 
offered only by that provider. 

"The Washington State Constitution does not contain a formal 

separation of powers clause, but '"the very division of our government 

into different branches has been presumed throughout our state's history to 

give rise to a vital separation of powers doctrine."' Putman v. Wenatchee 

Valley Medical Center, 166 Wn.2d 974, 980, 216 P.3d 374 (2009). Under 

the separation of powers doctrine, this Court has made clear that it will 

protect and enforce its procedural rules, including rules of evidence, in the 

face of conflicting legislative enactments. See e.g., Diaz v. State, 175 

Wn.2d 457, 285 P.3d 873 (2012); Gresham v. State, 173 Wn.2d 405, 269 

P.3d 207 (2012); Waples v. Yi, 169 Wn.2d 152, 234 P.3d 187 (2010); 

Putman, supra. 

In Diaz v. State, the Court specifically addressed the separation of 

powers analysis in the context ofRCW 7.70.080: 
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Under our separation of powers jurisprudence, when a 
statute appears to conflict with one of our evidence rules 
and they cannot be harmonized, the statute must yield to 
the rule on a procedural issue such as the admissibility of 
evidence. Id. Given the conflict between ER 408 and the 
trial court's interpretation of RCW 7.70.080, the statute 
should have yielded to the evidence rule. Thus, the trial 
court erred by admitting the evidence. 

!d., 175 Wn.2d at 471. 

In addressing the constitutional implications of the conflict 

between RCW 7.70.080 and ER 408, Diaz established at least two points 

significant for this case.3 First, RCW 7.70.080 is an evidentiary and 

procedural rule for purposes of separation of powers. It is not a substantive 

rule of law. Had the Court held that RCW 7.70.080 was substantive, then 

the substantive statute would have prevailed over the procedural rule, with 

a different outcome. See Putman, supra, 166 Wn.2d at 980 ("the statute 

will prevail in substantive matters"). And if RCW 7.70.080 is a 

procedural statute, then it follows that the collateral source rule which it 

abrogates must be procedural as well. 

Second, Diaz: "RCW 7.70.080 supersedes the common law 

collateral source rule." !d. 175 Wn.2d at 465. Stated another way, the 

Court effectively recognized that the statute conflicts with and cannot be 

3 A third point, discussed below, is that the Court inferentially but necessarily 
recognized that its decision in Adcox v. COH, 123 Wn.2d 15 (1993), did not 
preclude it from addressing the constitutionality ofRCW 7.70.080. 
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harmonized with the collateral source rule. The very purpose of the 

statute was to abrogate the collateral source rule in the context of medical 

malpractice cases. In this sense, the situation presented here is· similar to 

the statute found unconstitutional in Gresham v. State, supra, a statute 

enacted with the express purpose of prohibiting application of a court 

evidentiary rule in the context of criminal cases charging sex crimes.4 

This Court in Diaz did not have before it the question whether 

RCW 7.70.080 was unconstitutional because it conflicted with the 

collateral source rule. The separation of powers issue there involved ER 

408. This case squarely presents the separation of powers issue created by 

the conflict between RCW 7.08.080 and the collateral source rule. 

The purpose ofRCW 7.70.080 is to abrogate the collateral source 

rule in medical malpractice cases. It is no different than other procedural 

rules such as the certificate of merit (Putman, supra) or notice provisions 

(Waples v. Yi, supra) which the legislature applied specifically for medical 

malpractice cases, and which the Court struck down on separation of 

powers grounds because the statutes conflicted with the Court's 

procedural. In Gresham v. State, 173 Wn.2d at 428-32, the Court held that 

4 RCW 10.50.090 provided: "(1) In a criminal action in which the defendant is 
accused of a sex offense, evidence of the defendant's commission of another sex 
offense or sex offenses is admissible, notwithstanding Evidence Rule 404(b ), if 
the evidence is not inadmissible pursuant to Evidence Rule 403. 
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rules of evidence are procedural for purposes of separation of powers, 

rejecting earlier language to the contrary from State v. Pavelich, 153 

Wash. 379, 382, 279 P. 1102 (1929) as dicta. 

The conflict between the collateral source rule and RCW 7.70.080 

is patent and involves procedural rules and statutes. Under the logic and 

reasoning of the Court's precedents, the statute is unconstitutional. 

2. The Court of Appeals Erred in Holding that the Court's 
Separation of Powers Jurisprudence is Limited to 
Formally Promulgated Rules and Does not Apply to 
Common Law Rules of Evidence. 

Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals rejected petitioner's argument. 

It held that Washington limited its separation of powers jurisprudence to 

"formal court rule[ s ]" which have been "adopted through the Supreme Court 

rulemaking process." Opinion at 14. As a common law rule, instead of a 

formal court rule, separation of powers analysis does not apply to the 

collateral source rule. !d. at 14-15. 

This Court has never limited its separation of powers analysis to 

formally promulgated rules. Prior to the Court of Appeals' opinion below, 

Washington courts have not employed the distinction between "formal 

rules" and other rules in separation of powers analysis. Of course, the 

Court has the inherent power to promulgate rules, but in exercising and 

upholding this power, the Court has not employed limiting language. See 
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e.g., Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Medical Center, P.S., 166 Wn.2d at 980 

("Some fundamental functions are within the inherent power of the 

judicial branch, including the power to promulgate rules for its practice." 

(emphasis added)).5 

The authority of Washington courts which is protected by 

separation of powers is simply the "judicial power" granted in article IV of 

the Washington Constitution.6 City of Fircrest v. Jensen, 158 Wn.2d 384, 

394, 143 P.3d 776 (2006). The relevant distinction that appears in case 

after case in identifying the Court's inherent judicial power is that between 

substantive and procedural. 

In general, the judiciary's province is procedural and the 
legislature's is substantive. "Substantive law prescribes 
norms for societal conduct and punishments for violations 
thereof. It thus creates, defines, and regulates primary 

5The legislature has also delegated to this Court the power to prescribe rules of 
"pleading, practice and procedure" including questions of "taking and obtaining 
evidence." RCW 2.04.190. The Court has cited both the statute and its inherent 
power as sources for the power to prescribe rules. See City of Fircrest v. Jensen, 
158 Wn.2d 384, 394, 143 P.3d 776 (2006); State v. Fields, 85 Wn.2d 126, 129, 
530 P.2d 584 (1975). As a matter of historical fact, the Court did not prescribe 
comprehensive rules of "pleading, practice and procedure" until the legislature 
delegated it the power to do so by statute. Laws of 1925, Ex. Sess., ch. 118. "We 
think it follows that the Legislature, although formerly functioning in this state as 
the source of rules of practice and procedure in the courts, did not, in so doing, 
perform an act exclusively legislative, and may, if it so desires, transfer that 
power to the courts without such act being a delegation of legislative power." 
State ex. Rei. Foster-Wyman Lumber Co. v. Superior Court, supra, 148 Wash. at 
9 (upholding constitutionality of the 1925 Act, now codified at RCW 2.04.190). 
6 "The judicial power of the state shall be vested in a supreme court, superior 
courts, justices of the peace, and such inferior courts as the legislature may 
provide." Art. IV, § 1, Wash. Canst. 
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rights. In contrast, practice and procedure pertain to the 
essentially mechanical operations of the courts by which 
substantive law, rights, and remedies are effectuated." 

City of Fircrest v. Jensen, 158 Wn.2d at 394, quoting State v. Smith, 84 

Wn.2d 498, 501, 527 P.2d 674 (1974). 

It is indisputable that the collateral source rule of evidence falls on 

the procedural side of the substantive/procedural divide. As noted above, 

decisions consistently refer to the collateral source rule as a rule on the 

admission of evidence. For purposes of separation of powers analysis, rules 

regarding the admission of evidence are inherently judicial in nature. 

Gresham v. State, 173 Wn.2d 405, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). "[W]e long ago 

suggested that the admission of evidence is a procedural matter to be 

controlled by the courts in State ex. Rei. Foster-Wyman Lumber Co. v. 

Superior Court, 148 Wash. 1, 14, 267 P.770 (1928) .... " Gresham, supra, 

173 Wn.2d at 431. 

Washington courts exercise their inherent "judicial power" in 

admitting evidence, regardless of the manner or mode in which the courts 

exercise that power. Throughout most of its history, Washington had no 

formal rules of evidence, as such. For the first ninety years of statehood, 

the Court exercised this inherent judicial power through common law 

rulings in case law. For example, long before ER 408, the settlement rule 
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at issue in Diaz, common law rules barred evidence related to settlement. 

See e.g., Svea Fire & Life Ins. Co. v. Spokane, P. & S. Ry. Co., 175 Wash. 

622, 626-27, 313, 6 P.2d 645 (1933) ("The general rule is that offers of 

compromise are not admissible in evidence as admissions against the 

interest of the party making them."). The rule prohibiting evidence of 

subsequent remedial measures to prove negligence or culpable conduct, 

now ER 407, was adopted by this Court in 1894. Bell v. Washington 

Cedar Shingle Co., 8 Wash 27, 28, 35 P. 405 (1894). The exception to 

that rule of evidence-where feasibility is contested-appears at least as 

far back as Hatch v. Globe Union Mfg. Co., 170 Wash. 494,498 (1932). 

The Rules of Evidence were adopted in 1978 and became effective 

in 1979. 91 Wn.2d 1117 (1978). The rules were promulgated in order to 

obtain the benefits of codification itself, and the advantage of substantial 

uniformity with the federal rules and the uniform rules of evidence. The 

contemporaneous observations of Professor Orland and Mr. Tegland are 

pertinent in this respect: 

Codification should tend to lessen the burden of 
researching and determining the law on a given point. 
Although Washington practitioners are fortunate to have 
Professor Meisenholder's excellent treatise on this state's 
law, the law leaves many evidentiary issues unanswered or 
at best ambiguously answered. The concentration of the 
essential rules of evidence in one source, together with the 
new relevance of federal treatises to Washington practice, 
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should be advantageous to lawyers and judges in 
Washington. 

Codification can also be expected to result in improved trial 
performance by Washington lawyers. Law school 
textbooks and other course materials now include coverage 
of the Federal Rules of Evidence. As more states adopt 
rules based upon the federal and uniform rules, these rules 
will inevitably become the outline around which the law of 
evidence will be taught. It seems likely that the adoption of 
rules substantially the same as the rules younger lawyers 
have learned in law school will give those members of the 
bar additional confidence and effectiveness as trial 
advocates. 

Orland & Tegland, The Federal Rules of Evidence: Washington Follows 

the Federal Model, 15 Gonz. L. Rev. 277,456-57 (1980).7 

As the title to the foregoing article indicates, although Washington 

did not adopt the federal rules wholesale, "the Washington rules largely 

track the federal rules verbatim." !d. Even today, the eleven Article 

headings of the federal rules are all but identical to the eleven Title 

headings of the state rules. It is unsurprising that the collateral source rule 

was not included within the Rules of Evidence. It was not a subject matter 

of the Federal Rules of Evidence on which the Washington Rules of 

Evidence were modeled. 

7The late Professor Lewis Orland chaired the Judicial Council Task Force which 
developed the proposed rules, appointed by then Chief Justice Charles Stafford. 
Mr. Tegland served as the Reporter on the task force. See also Karl Tegland, 
"The Proposed Rules of Evidence: An Opportunity for Codification", Wash. St. 
Bar News (Jan. 1979). 
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Indeed, it was not the intention to include every rule of evidence 

within the rules codified by the Rules of Evidence: 

The rules are not a complete codification. Constitutional 
limitations, both those established and those emerging, are 
not generally dealt with, although some of the rules have 
been written with these limitations in mind. Nor are all the 
principles of routine evidence law covered. Also, the rules 
defer at numerous points to statutes, notably the statutes on 
evidentiary privileges and on competency. 

Orland & Tegland, supra, at 281. 

As a constitutional matter, common law rules of evidence should 

not be treated differently than formally promulgated rules of evidence. 

"[R]ules of evidence are 'found in the common law, chiefly, and grow[] 

out of the reasoning, experience and common sense of lawyers and 

courts."' Gresham, supra, 173 Wn.2d at 432, quoting State v. Pavelich, 

153 Wash. 379, 382 (1929) (last set of brackets in original). When this 

Court in 1929 first addressed its power to promulgate rules for lower 

courts, it justified the rulemaking power by its power to review individual 

cases of the lower courts.

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