RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
May 04, 2015, 4:25 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

No. 91518-1

E CRF
RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LONNITA HASKINS,

Petitioner,

vs.

MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEM, a Washington corporation d/b/a
TACOMA GENERAL HOSPITAL,

Respondent.

MULTICARE HEALTH SYSTEM'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR
DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Rebecca S. Ringer, WSBA No. 16842
Amber L. Pearce, WSBA No. 31626
Floyd, Pflueger & Ringer, P.S.
200 West Thomas Street, Suite 500
Seattle, WA 98119
Telephone: 206-441-4455
Facsimile: 206-441-8484

Attorneys for Respondent MultiCare
Health System

ORIGINAL

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. RCW 7.70.080 IS CONSTITUTIONAL AND DOES NOT VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS DOCTRINE.

Medical malpractice claims are governed by RCW 7.70 *et seq.* The Legislature explained that “Washington, exercising its police and sovereign power, hereby modifies as set forth in this chapter and in RCW 4.16.350, as now or hereafter amended, *certain substantive and procedural* aspects of all civil actions and causes of action, whether based on tort, contract, or otherwise, for damages for injury occurring as a result of health care which is provided after June 25, 1976.” RCW 7.70.010 (emphasis added).

In the context of medical malpractice cases, evidence—presented by *any party*—of compensation from other sources is admissible. This is an equal opportunity statute: “the plaintiff may present evidence of an

obligation to repay such compensation and evidence of any amount paid by the plaintiff, or his or her representative or immediate family, to secure the right to the compensation.” RCW 7.70.080 states:

Evidence of compensation from other source. Any party may present evidence to the trier of fact that the plaintiff has already been compensated for the injury complained of from any source except the assets of the plaintiff, the plaintiff's representative, or the plaintiff's immediate family. In the event such evidence is admitted, the plaintiff may present evidence of an obligation to repay such compensation and evidence of any amount paid by the plaintiff, or his or her representative or immediate family, to secure the right to the compensation. Compensation as used in this section shall mean payment of money or other property to or on behalf of the plaintiff, rendering of services to the plaintiff free of charge to the plaintiff, or indemnification of expenses incurred by or on behalf of the plaintiff. Notwithstanding this section, evidence of compensation by a defendant health care provider may be offered only by that provider.

RCW 7.70.080. This Court has expressly stated that “RCW 7.70.080 *supersedes* the common law collateral source rule” in *medical malpractice* cases. *Adcox v. Children's Orthopedic Hosp.*, 123 Wn.2d 15, 50, 864 P.2d 921 (1993) (explaining that the failure to admit collateral source evidence in a medical malpractice case is error: “we *strongly encourage* trial courts to fully follow the statute in the future”) (emphasis added).

Despite this Court's “strong encouragement” advanced since 1993, the Plaintiff's Bar repeatedly argues in their motions *in limine* to the trial

court that RCW 7.70.080 is unconstitutional—exactly as Haskins did here.¹ Likewise, the Defense Bar for health care providers in medical malpractice repeatedly defend its constitutionality—which is why many parties moved for partial publication of the Court of Appeals decision in the case at bar.

In *Adcox*, the Supreme Court had a ripe opportunity to address the constitutionality of RCW 7.70.080. A 12-week-old boy sustained permanent brain damage after suffering cardiac arrest at Children’s Orthopedic Hospital. A jury found the hospital negligent in failing to prevent the arrest and awarded damages of approximately \$10 million. The hospital appealed, contending the trial court erred in excluding certain evidence of external benefits from the jury. *Id.* at 39. These mitigating benefits included the following types of care for the child: school district care; state medical care; state respite care; state payments of foster care expenses; state insurance pool for the uninsurable; and charitable organizations providing resources. *Id.* at 40 n.11.

In this 1993 opinion, the Court analyzed the statute’s words, meaning, and application regarding collateral source evidence. However, instead of deciding that RCW 7.70.080 was unconstitutional, the *Adcox*

¹ CP at 570-72. *See also* Joint Motion to Publish, filed with the Court of Appeals in this case, encouraging publication. Despite the Supreme Court’s clear mandate that trial courts should admit RCW 7.70.080-based evidence, plaintiffs continue to ignore precedence. Instead, plaintiffs routinely argue that trial courts should exclude collateral source evidence based on an alleged constitutional defect.

Court decisively explained: (1) why RCW 7.70.080 was necessary; (2) that it replaced the common law collateral source doctrine in medical malpractice cases; (3) the goals of RCW 7.70.080 and how they are met regardless of whether an offset calculation is conducted by a judge or jury; and (4) trial courts should follow RCW 7.70.080 in its entirety. *Id.* at 40-41.

Adcox instructed that RCW 7.70.080 *replaces* the doctrine in medical malpractice cases. *Adcox* explained that in medical malpractice cases, “[t]he primary motivation in doing away with the collateral source rule is the rule allows plaintiffs to recover more than their total damages.” *Id.* at 48. The Supreme Court, in a unanimous opinion, acknowledged that “[u]nder the collateral source rule, a plaintiff could recover 100 percent of the damages from liable defendants, even if the plaintiff had already recovered a portion of their damages from another source, such as insurance.” *Id.*

The Supreme Court stated that “[b]ecause the rule overcompensated plaintiffs, it became to be viewed as imposing unnecessary costs on society and causing higher insurance premiums.” *Id.*, citing *Comment, A Survey of the Collateral Source Rule: The Effects of Tort Reform and Impact on Multistate Litigation*, 53 *Air L. & Com.* 799, 802-03, 827-29 (1987-88).²

² See also *Comment, Who's Swallowing the "Bitter Pill?" Reforming Write-Offs in the State of Washington*, 37 *Seattle U. L. Rev.* 1371 (2014) (discussing whether Washington

The Supreme Court could have opined that RCW 7.70.080 “irreconcilably conflicts” with the common law collateral source doctrine. Instead, it affirmed that the “primary goal in eliminating the collateral source rule has been to prevent overcompensating plaintiffs in light of the resulting costs to society. This goal is met whether the offset called for in RCW 7.70.080 is conducted by the jury or the trial judge.” *Id.* at 41.

Petitioner Haskins relies on *Diaz v. State of Washington* to advance the contention that RCW 7.70.080 is unconstitutional because it violates the separation of powers doctrine. *See* Petition at 8-9. She contends that the Supreme Court “effectively realized that the statute conflicts with and cannot be harmonized with the collateral source rule.” *Id.* This is incorrect. The *Diaz* Court unanimously held in 2012, that “the trial court misapplied RCW 7.70.080 by failing to give effect to the proviso at the end of the statute: “Notwithstanding this section, evidence of compensation by a defendant health care provider may be offered *only by that provider.*” *Diaz v. State*, 175 Wn.2d 457, 463, 285 P.3d 873 (2012) (emphasis added).

The *Diaz* Court explained that the last sentence of RCW 7.70.080 “is a conciliatory provision allowing health care providers to compensate, or settle claims with, persons who have been harmed by health care services

should amend its application of the collateral source rule to disallow the recovery of write-offs and whether the amount accepted as payment in full by a medical provider is the reasonable or market value of the services provided).

without fear that the settlement might someday be used against them by the plaintiff or codefendant.” Id. (emphasis added). Similarly, a health care provider “may wish to settle a claim confidentially, and the proviso facilitates this by preventing parties (other than the health care provider itself) from introducing evidence of the settlement in open court.” Id.

Diaz is a thoughtfully-worded opinion untangling a host of conflicting statutory procedures of how to account “for prior settlements in medical malpractice actions.” *Id.* at 469. The Court carefully addressed the conflicting intersection of RCW 7.70.080, 4.22.060 and 4.22.070. “Where two (or more) statutes conflict, as here, we resolve the conflict by giving preference to the statute that is *more specific* and *more recently enacted.*” *Id.* at 470. Accordingly, with respect to settlements, RCW 4.22.060 and .070 are more recent than RCW 7.70.080. “They are also more specific, dealing specially with the effect of prior releases and settlements on the determination of an injured person’s damages.” *Id.* The Supreme Court contrasted the former statutes with the latter statute, and stated that “RCW 7.70.080 is not limited to settlements and the entry of judgment but addresses every type of compensation that a plaintiff might receive.” *Id.* In the three-way conflict, RCW 4.22.060 and .070 prevailed over RCW 7.70.080.

Significantly, the 2012 *Diaz* decision acknowledged that its analysis “avoids a conflict between the statute and one of our court rules.” *Id.* at 470. The Court then explained that ER 408 “bars the admission of settlement evidence to prove liability for or invalidity of a claim or its amount, but not for ‘another purpose.’” *Id.* Unfortunately, the trial court misapplied RCW 7.70.080; the misapplication created a conflict with ER 408 with respect to the admissibility of settlement evidence, which the Supreme Court corrected.

Haskins contends that “*Diaz* did not have before it the question [of] whether RCW 7.70.080 was unconstitutional because it conflicted with the collateral source rule.” *See* Petition at 10. This position ignores the fact that the Supreme Court apparently did not perceive a conflict. As in *Adcox*, the *Diaz* Court, again, thoroughly: (1) interpreted the very statute Haskins asserts is unconstitutional; (2) analyzed conflicts among statutes governing settlements; and (3) applied a separation of powers analysis to RCW 7.70.080 and ER 408. *Diaz* would have been another prime case to address a purported conflict with the collateral source doctrine.

There is no “conflict.” The Supreme Court examined “exactly what RCW 7.70.080 does. RCW 7.70.080 supersedes the common law collateral source rule.” *Id.* at 466. If there was any doubt, the *Diaz* Court reiterated

that “RCW 7.70.080 replaces the collateral source rule in medical malpractice cases, as we explained in *Adcox v. Children’s Ortho. Hosp. & Med. Ctr.*[.]” *Id.* The *Diaz* Court recapped its holding in *Adcox*: “We said there that the purpose of RCW 7.70.080 is to delegate to the jury the task of determining whether an injured person has already been compensated for the injuries and the task of reducing any verdict by the amount of compensation already paid.” *Id.*

Discretionary review should be denied because this Court has consistently explained that RCW 7.70.080 replaces and supersedes the common law collateral source doctrine in medical malpractice cases.

B. NO COURT RULE CONFLICTS WITH RCW 7.70.080.

Here, the Court of Appeals advanced the argument that RCW 7.70.080 is constitutional because it does not conflict with a “formal” court rule, since the collateral source doctrine is a common law creation. Opinion at 14. Because Petitioner Haskins did not identify a specific court rule, the appellate court noted that her argument failed at the first step in a separation of powers analysis. *Id.* Instead, she argued “that the common law collateral source doctrine should be treated *as if* it were a formal court rule for the purpose of a separation of powers analysis.” Opinion at 15

(emphasis added). But “[s]he points to no authority to support this argument” and “we are aware of none.” *Id.*

Rather than address the appellate court’s concern, Haskins contends that distinguishing between a “formal” court rule and a common law doctrine presents a “significant constitutional issue.” *See* Petition at 1. However, she fails to acknowledge that regardless of whether the common law collateral source doctrine is a “formal” court rule, the Supreme Court has repeatedly stated RCW 7.70.080 *replaces* and *supersedes* the collateral source doctrine in medical malpractice cases. There are no “significant” constitutional issues here to trigger review under RAP 13.4(b)(3)-(4).

The Supreme Court’s rulemaking procedure is explained in GR 9. “The purpose of rules of court is to provide necessary governance of court procedure and practice and to promote justice by ensuring a fair and expeditious process.” GR 9(a). In promulgating rules of court, the Supreme Court engages in an extensive and thorough process wherein court rules are proposed, considered, circulated, amended, adopted, and/or repealed. GR 9(d), (f)-(g); *see also* RCW 2.04.190 (“In prescribing such rules the supreme court shall have regard to the simplification of the system of pleading, practice and procedure in said courts to promote the speedy determination of litigation on the merits.”)

A “rule of court” is defined as “[a] rule governing the practice or procedure in a given court.” Black’s Law Dictionary at 1358 (8th ed. 2004). The Court of Appeals opined that the collateral source doctrine is not a formal rule of court. Opinion at 14. The Court explained that it “was not adopted through the Supreme Court rulemaking process, but is, rather, a common law doctrine.” *Id.*, citing *Adcox*, 123 Wn.2d at 40 (“RCW 7.70.080 replaces the *common law*’s collateral source rule).

The Court of Appeals stated that the cases upon which Haskins relied (*Diaz v. State*, *Putnam v. Wenatchee Valley Med. Ctr.*, *Waples v. Yi*, and *State v. Gresham*) all concerned conflicts with rules of court, namely ER 408, CR 8, CR 11, CR 3(a), and ER 404(b)). Opinion at 15-16. “Haskins tries to equate the common law collateral source doctrine with a formal court rule in order to set up a separation of powers violation.” Opinion at 16.

Regardless of whether the common law collateral source doctrine is a court rule, the Court of Appeals, relying on *Adcox*, explained that RCW 7.70.080 *replaces* the common law collateral source doctrine with respect to medical malpractice cases. Opinion at 16. Replace, substitute, supersede, switch, and supplant are not verbs expressing a conflict. There is no conflict.

VI. CONCLUSION